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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
TAMPA DIVISION

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION,

Plaintiff,
Case No.: 8:12-cv-586-T35-EAJ

PRO CREDIT GROUP, LLC, et al.,

Defendants.

ORDER

THIS CAUSE comes before the Court for consideration of Plaintiff's Motion for

Preliminary Injunction against Defendants Dale Robinson (" Robinson), Consumer Credit

Group, LLC ("CCG"), William Balsamo ("Balsamo"), and First Financial Asset Services

("FFA") (Dkt. 10). U pon consideration of all relevant filings, case law, and being

otherwise fully advised, the Court GRANTS the Motion for Preliminary Injunction, as

described herein.

I. B A CKGROUND

The FTC brought this action against Defendants on March 19, 2012 alleging that

Defendants violated section 5(a) of the FTC Act , 15 U .S.C. g 45(a), and the

Telemarketing Sales Rule ("TSR"), 16 C.F.R. Part 310. The FTC filed the instant

motion seeking a preliminary injunction against the Defendants. Defendants Pro Credit

Group, LLC; Brett Fisher; Sanders Legal Group, P.A.; Andrew Keith Sanders; and

Sanders Law P.A. all stipulated to the entry of a preliminary injunction against them.

Defendants Robinson, CCG, FFA, and Balsamo are the only Defendants who have not
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stipulated to a preliminary injunction. Thus, for purposes of this Order, the term

"Defendants" shall refer to CCG, Robinson, FFA, and Balsamo.

On March 20, 2012, upon motion by the FTC, the Court issued an ex parte

temporary restraining order (TRO) against Defendants with asset f reeze and

appointment of a Receiver. T h e Court held a hearing on Plaintiff's motion for

preliminary injunction and motion for TRO on April 17, 2012. Following the hearing, the

Court entered an order lifting the TRO against Balsamo personally and lifting the freeze

on Balsamo's personal assets. The Court also lifted the TRO against Robinson and

lifted the freeze on Robinson's personal assets. The assets of FFA and CCG remained

frozen. The assets of Ideal Interest, LLC, a company operated by Robinson remained

frozen. The assets of Calif Management, a company operated by Mr. Balsamo and his

wife also remained frozen, with the exception of $30,000 being released from Calif

Management's assets to Mr. Balsamo.

At the hearing, Defendants objected to new evidence discovered by the FTC

through expedited discovery after the filing of the preliminary injunction motion and

before the hearing. The Court delayed ruling on the FTC's motion for preliminary

injunction and provided Defendants an opportunity to file objections to the new evidence

the FTC sought to introduce. Defendants Robinson and CCG never filed objections to

the FTC's evidence. Defendants Balsamo and FFA, rather than objecting to the

evidence provided by the FTC, responded substantively to the FTC's motion for

preliminary injunction, arguing only that the additional evidence did not bolster the

FTC's case.
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II. FACTUAL SUMMARY

The FTC alleges that since January 2010 Defendants have engaged in a

scheme to defraud consumers by selling them a service that purports to lower interest

rates on consumers' debts. The FTC claims that third party telemarketers, acting on

behalf of CCG or FFA, call consumers and claim they will negotiate directly with

consumers' creditors to reduce consumers' interest rates. The FTC contends that

Defendants' actions are misleading and unlawful.

After conducting a hearing and considering the evidence submitted by the

parties, the Court makes the following findings of fact. D e fendants entered into

contracts with third party call centers to purchase orders from the call centers after they

completed a sale of Defendants' products. For example, Balsamo testified that the call

centers were paid between 55 to 60 percent of the purchase price for the product they

sold and FFA kept the remaining balance. FFA's and CCG's jobs were to provide

customer service and to process the payments by charging the consumers' credit cards.

The job of customer service included handling calls to answer consumers' questions on

things such as billing, and providing refunds to consumers. Defendants charged the

consumers' credit cards hundreds of dollars in fees before any service was actually

provided. For example, Balsamo's and FFA's in-house counsel, Hank Walters (" Mr.

Walters" ), testified that after FFA bought the order from the call center, it ran a pre 

authorization on the customer's credit card to hold the funds, waited two days, and then

charged the card. After charging the card, FFA submitted the customer's information to

a "fulfillment center" to begin negotiations on behalf of the customer. Karissa Dyar and

her company Consumer Budget Services ("CBS"), served as the "fulfillment center" for
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the Defendants. Dyar testified that she entered into oral agreements with Robinson and

Balsamo to negotiate credit reductions and other concessions from creditors on behalf

of the consumers who purchased the Defendants' products. Dyar's company was in

charge of mailing Defendants' materials to consumers who purchased the products and

of calling the consumers' lenders to negotiate interest rate reductions.

The FTC introduced evidence in the forms of sales scripts and declarations of

many witnesses showing that the third party telemarketers promised consumers that

they would obtain specific, substantially lower, interest rates for consumers, such as

3%, 6 to 9% or interest rates in the single digits. The telemarketers further promised

that consumers would realize a minimum amount of savings — typically, thousands of

dollars — and that such savings would occur within a specific timeframe, generally within

3 months. The telemarketers also stated that consumers who sign up for Defendants'

services would be assigned their own personal financial consultants who would assist

them in achieving these savings and benefits. Additionally, in many instances, the

telemarketers stated that if consumers do not see the promised results, they would

receive full refunds.

The FTC also introduced evidence showing that no interest rate reductions of

any kind were obtained on behalf of many customers. Dyar testified that employees

from her company, CBS, merely called the number on the back of the customers' credit

cards to begin their negotiations. There is no evidence that CBS had any special

contacts or relationships with the lenders. Further, only about 5 negotiators were

available to service over 15,000 customers. The FTC further introduced into evidence

documents showing that Defendants knew ahead of time that certain credit cards held
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by customers they enrolled in their program were not eligible for reductions because the

lenders would not negotiate. Defendants Robinson and Balsamo paid the telemarketing

sales rooms on behalf of their companies and handled refund checks to some of the

customers who complained that they did not receive the services promised.

II. D I SCUSSION

The FTC argues that Defendants are in violation of the FTC Act because (1) they

failed to provide the promised interest rate reductions and savings to consumers; and

(2) failed to provide full refunds to unsatisfied consumers, as promised. The FTC also

alleges that Defendants violated the TSR because they (1) requested and received

payments from consumers before providing any debt r e l ief services and (2 )

misrepresented material aspects of the debt relief service, including but not limited to

the amount of money a customer would save by using such service. The FTC now

seeks a preliminary injunction against the Defendants to enjoin the alleged deceptive

practices.

ln determining whether to grant a preliminary injunction in this case, the Court

must (1) determine the FTC' s likelihood of ultimate success on the merits and (2)

balance the equities. See FTC v. Universit Health lnc., 938 F.2d 1206, 1217 (11th Cir.

1991). "To show a likelihood of ultimate success, the FTC must raise questions going

to the merits so serious, substantial, difficult and doubtful as to make them fair ground

for thorough investigation, study, deliberation and determination by the FTC and

ultimately by the Court.. . . " ld.
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1. Vio l ations of the FTC Act

The FTC claims that it is likely to establish that Defendants have violated Section

5 of the FTC Act. According to the FTC, the Defendants are liable for the following

misrepresentations: (1) that they would negotiate lower interest rates for consumers; (2)

that consumers would save thousands of dollars as a result of such negotiations; (3)

that consumers would receive assistance from a personal financial consultant; and (4)

that dissatisfied consumers would receive ful l r e funds. W hi l e t h e a l leged

misrepresentations were actually made by the third party call centers, the FTC contends

that the Defendants are liable because the call centers were acting as agents of the

Defendants. The Court finds that the FTC is likely to establish that the Defendants

violated Section 5(a) of the FTC Act.

Section 5(a) of the FTC Act prohibits deceptive acts or practices in or affecting

commerce. In order to establish that an act or practice is deceptive under the FTC Act,

the FTC must show (1) there is a representation, omission, or practice (2) that is likely

to mislead consumers acting reasonably under the c i rcumstances and (3) the

representation, omission or practice is material. See FTC v. Tashman, 318 F.3d 1273,

1277 (11th Cir. 2003.) A representation is likely to mislead consumers "if it has the

capacity or tendency to deceive; that is, either false or lacks a reasonable basis."

Tashman, 318 F.3d at 1280, n.5. A m isrepresentation or omission is material if it

involves information that is likely to affect a consumer's choice of, or conduct regarding,

a product or service. Kraft Inc. v. FTC, 970 F.2d 311, 322 (7th Cir. 1992).

In this case, the FTC has provided enough evidence to show that the call centers

likely made material misrepresentations to consumers. The FTC has also provided
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enough evidence to s how t ha t D e fendants are l i kely l iable fo r t h e a l leged

misrepresentations made by the call centers. Under the FTC Act, a defendant is liable

for the misrepresentations of third party telemarketers which acted as agents of the

defendant. FTC v. MacGre or, 360 Fed. Appx. 891 (9th Cir. 2009); FTC v. Stefanchik,

559 F.3d 924, 930-31 (9th Cir. 2009). In this case, the evidence demonstrates that

Defendants entered into contracts with the third party call centers to sell the Defendants'

services. The call centers were paid between 55 to 60 percent of the products they sold

on behalf of the Defendants while Defendants kept the remaining balance. Balsamo

and Robinson paid the call centers directly on behalf of their companies. Therefore, the

FTC is likely to show that Defendants are liable for the misrepresentations made by the

call centers in violation of the FTC Act.

2. Vio l ations of the TSR

The TSR was promulgated by the FTC pursuant to the Telemarketing and

Consumer Fraud and Abuse Prevention Act (" Telemarketing Act"), 15 U.S.C. gg 6101 

6108, to prohibit abusive and deceptive telemarketing acts or practices. Pursuant to

Section 3(c) of the Telemarketing Act, 15 U.S.C. g 6102(c), and Section 18(d)(3) of the

FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. g 57a(d)(3), a violation of the TSR constitutes an unfair or deceptive

act or practice in or affecting commerce, in violation of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15

U.S.C. g 45(a). The TSR states that "it is a deceptive telemarketing act or practice and

a violation of this Rule for any seller or telemarketer" to engage in certain abusive

conduct, including requesting or receiving payment of any fee or consideration for any

debt relief service until and unless the seller or telemarketer has renegotiated, settled,

reduced, or otherwise altered the terms of at least one debt on behalf of the customer.
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16 C.F.R. g 310.3(a); 310.4(a)(5)(i). The TSR does not prohibit Defendants engaged in

debt relief service from:

requesting or requiring the customer to place funds in an account to be
used for the debt relief provider's fees and for payments to creditors or
debt collectors in connection with the renegotiation, settlement,
reduction provided that: ... the funds are held in an account of an
insured institution ... the customer owns the funds held in the account
and is paid accrued interest on the account, if any . . . the entity
administering the account is not owned or controlled by, or in any way
affiliated with, the debt relief service ... and the customer may withdraw
from the debt relief service at any time without penalty...

16 C.F.R. g 310.4(a)(5)(ii). Under the TSR, a "seller" is defined as "any person who, in

connection with a telemarketing transaction, provides, offers to provide, or arranges for

others to provide goods or services to the customer in exchange for consideration." 16

C.F.R. g 310.2(z) (emphasis added). Further, it is a violation of the TSR for a seller to

misrepresent any material aspect of any debt relief service, including but not limited to,

the amount of money a customer may save by using such service. 16 C.F.R.

310.3(a)(2)(x).

The Court finds that the FTC is likely to demonstrate that Defendants violated the

TSR in this case. As described above, the Court finds that the FTC is likely to prove

that the Defendants are liable for the alleged misrepresentations made by the third party

call centers. F u rther, the FTC provides evidence demonstrating that Defendants

charged customers' credit cards before any negotiations were conducted on behalf of

the customers. After a customer's credit card was charged, Defendants secured Ms.

Dyar and CBS to mail the Defendants' materials to the customer and to call the lenders

to attempt negotiation on behalf of the consumer. Defendants do not dispute that

customers were charged fees before any negotiations took place on behalf of the
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customers. Thus, at a minimum, Defendants fall under the definition of a "seller" under

the TSR and are likely to be in violation of the section prohibiting an upfront charge for

debt relief service until such service has been provided.

At the preliminary injunction hearing, Mr. Walters testified that when the TSR was

amended in October of 2010 to prevent any upfront charges for debt relief services,

FFA stopped providing debt relief services and instead established a web-based

program called the "Financial Wellness Program." Walters testified that this new

program included services such as identity theft protection and a discounted legal

services program. Walters testified that interest rate reduction services were added as

a mere bonus to the new program and that customers were not charged for the bonus.

However, Mr. Walters' testimony is belied by the declaration of multiple consumers on

the record who claim that they received phone calls from individuals calling on behalf of

FFA offering debt relief services several months after October 2010. The record also

contains at least one credit card statement showing that consumers were charged for

such services months after October of 2010.

3. Enj o ining Future Violations

Balsamo and FFA argue that a preliminary injunction is not warranted in this case

because they have completely ceased the alleged violations set forth by the FTC. They

contend that FFA stopped purchasing orders from the telemarketers in March of 2011

and that they do not plan to re-enter the debt relief business. The FTC contends that

even if Defendants ceased selling interest rate reduction services, there is a cognizable

danger of recurrent violation because: (1) FFA is still an active corporation, (2) FFA's

existing customers are still being serviced by Ms. Dyar and CBS, (3) FFA is still
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providing customer service to these existing customers, and (4) Balsamo only stopped

selling interest rate reduction services because FFA's credit card processing merchant

account was closed and he could not find another company to bill FFA's customers.

The FTC contends that i f Balsamo finds another processor willing to bil l FFA's

customers, he could quickly resume his alleged deceptive conduct.

Even though the unlikely conduct has ceased, FFA and Balsamo can be

preliminarily enjoined from engaging in future violations of the Act if their past conduct

indicates that there is a reasonable likelihood of further violations in the future. See

FTC v. USA Financial LLC, 415 Fed.Appx. 970, 975 (11th Cir. 2011). The Court finds

that the FTC has shown a reasonable likelihood of future violations in this case. While

Balsamo and FFA contend that they no longer have the ability to process customer' s

credit cards, it is only because they have been unable to find another processor. If

Defendants were to find a new processor, there is a likelihood that Defendants may

resume their conduct. Further, Defendants' association with Brett Fisher, who has

already been enjoined in the past by this Court for the same conduct, demonstrates a

likelihood of future violations in this case. T h us, a preliminary injunction to prevent

future violations of the TSR and the FTC Act is appropriate in this case.

Further, even where a preliminary injunction to prevent future violations of law is

not appropriate, a preliminary injunction which freezes the assets of the Defendants

may be appropriate. See FTC v. Evans Products Co., 775 F.2d 1084, 1088 (9th Cir.

1985) ("[c]ourts have inherent equitable powers to grant ancillary relief, other than a

preliminary injunction restraining future violations of the law, when there is no likelihood

of recurrence...[t]he power to grant a preliminary injunction, which freezes assets when

10
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the circumstances require, is among these inherent equitable powers.") Having found

that the FTC is likely to succeed on a claim that the Defendants violated the TSR and

section 5(a) of the FTC Act i n t h is case, a p reliminary injunction freezing the

Defendants' assets is appropriate.

4. Ind i v idual Liability

Individuals may be held personally liable for corporate FTC violations if the FTC

shows that the individuals (1) participated directly in the deceptive acts or practices or

(2) had authority to control them and had some knowledge of the practices. Here,

Balsamo and Robinson as presidents of FFA and CCG knew or should have known that

their respective companies charged customers upfront fees in violation of the TSR. The

FTC provided evidence showing that Robinson and Balsamo billed consumers directly,

handled billing questions and provided refunds and chargebacks to consumers. Ms.

Dyar testified that she entered into verbal contracts with Robinson and Balsamo for her

company to serve as the fulfillment center for CCG and FFA. Robinson and Balsamo

paid Ms. Dyar directly for her fulfillment services. Defendants knew or should have

known that their companies charged the consumers' credit cards before submitting the

consumers' information to the fulfillment center to begin negotiations on their behalves.

Thus, Robinson and Balsamo are likely to be personally liable under the FTC Act.

III. C O NCLUSION

Accordingly, based on the foregoing, it is hereby ORDERED that the Motion for

Preliminary Injunction against Defendants is GRANTED. It is further ORDERED as

follows:

11
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PROHIBITED BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

ln connection with the advertising, marketing, promotion, offering for sale, or sale

of any goods or services, Defendants and their successors, assigns, officers, agents,

servants, employees, or attorneys, and any person or entity in active concert or

participation with them who receives actual notice of this Order by personal service or

otherwise, whether acting directly or through any entity, are hereby restrained and

enjoined from:

A. Misrepresenting, or assisting others in misrepresenting, directly or indirectly,

expressly or by implication, any material fact, including, but not limited to that:

Defendants will negotiate lower interest rates for consumers within

a few months;

2. Def e ndants will save consumers thousands of dollars as a result of

Defendants' negotiations;

3. Con s umers w i l l r eceive assistance f rom p e rsonal f inancial

consultants; or

4. Def e ndants will provide full refunds;

B. Violating, or assisting others in violating, any provision of the Telemarketing

Sales Rule, 16 C.P.R. Part 310, including, but not limited to:

By requesting or receiving payment of any fee or consideration for

any Debt Relief Service until and unless:

a . Def e ndants h ave r e negotiated, settled, r educed, o r

otherwise altered the terms of at least one debt pursuant to a

12
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settlement agreement, debt management plan, or other such

valid contractual agreement executed by the customer; and

b. The c ustomer has made at least one payment pursuant to

that settlement agreement, debt management plan, or other

valid contractual agreement between the customer and the

creditor or debt collector (Section 310.4(a)(5)(i) of the TSR,

16 C.F.R. g 310.4(a)(5)(i));

By misrepresenting, directly or by implication, that:

a. Def e ndants will negotiate lower interest rates for consumers

within a few months;

b. Con s umers will save thousands of dollars as a result of

Defendants' negotiations;

c. Cons umers will receive assistance from personal financial

consultants; or

d. Con s umers will receive full refunds (Section 310.3(a)(2)(x) of

the TSR, 16 C.F.R. g 310.3(a)(2)(x)); and

3. By pro v iding substantial assistance or support to se l lers or

Telemarketers who Defendants know or consciously avoid knowing

engage in acts or practices that violate the provisions described in

Sections C.1 and C.2, above (Section 310.3(b) of the TSR, 16

C.F.R. g 310.3(b)).
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II. ASS E T FREEZE

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendants are hereby restrained and enjoined

from directly or indirectly:

A. Tra n sferring, l iquidating, converting, encumbering, pledging, loaning,

selling, concealing, d i ssipating, d i sbursing, a ssigning, s pending,

withdrawing, granting a lien or security interest or other interest in, or

otherwise disposing of any Assets, or any interest therein, wherever

located, including outside the United States, that are:

owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by any Defendant, in

whole or in part, or held, in whole or in part for the benefit of any

Defendant;

2. in t he actual or constructive possession of any Defendant;

3. own ed, controlled by, or in the actual or constructive possession of

any corporation, partnership, or other entity directly or indirectly

owned, managed, or controlled by, or under common control with

any Defendant, including, but not limited to, any Assets of Dale

Robinson, William Balsamo, Consumer Credit Group, LLC, First

Financial Asset Services, LLC, Calif Management, Ideal Interest,

LLC, or any other entity acting under a fictitious name owned by or

controlled by any Defendant, and any Assets held by, for, or under

the name of any Defendant at any bank, savings and loan

institution, or bank of any Defendant, or with any broker-dealer,

escrow agent, title company, commodity trading company, payment

14
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processing company, precious metal dealer, or other f inancial

institution or depository of any kind;

B. Ope n ing or causing to be opened any safe deposit boxes titled in the

name of any Defendant, or subject to access by any Defendant;

C. Inc u rring charges or cash advances on any credit card issued in the

name, singly or jointly, of any Defendant;

D. Obt a ining a personal or secured loan;

E. Inc u rring liens or encumbrances on real property, personal property or

other Assets in the name, singly or jointly, of any Defendant; and

F. Cas h ing any checks from consumers, clients, or customers of any

Defendant.

The Assets affected by this Section shall include: (1) all Assets of Defendants as

of the time the TRO was entered; and (2) for the Assets obtained after entry of the TRO,

those Assets of Defendants that are derived, directly or indirectly, from the conduct

alleged in the FTC's Complaint filed March 19, 2012. This Section does not prohibit the

repatriation of foreign Assets, as specifically required in Section V (Repatriation of

Foreign Assets) of this Order.

III. F I NANCIAL REPORTS AND ACCOUNTING

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, if not already produced pursuant to the TRO,

each Defendant shall immediately:

A. Pre p are and serve on counsel for the FTC and the Receiver completed

financial statements fully disclosing the Defendants' finances and those of

all corporations, limited liability companies, partnerships, trusts or other

15
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entities that each Defendant owns, controls, or is associated with in any

capacity, jointly or individually, on the forms attached to this Order as

Attachments A and B, accurate as of the date of service of this Order upon

Defendants;

B. Pre pare and serve on counsel for the FTC and the Receiver copies of

signed and completed federal and state income tax forms, including all

schedules and attachments for the three most recent filing years;

C. Provide access to records and documents held by financial institutions

outside the territory of the United States, by signing the Consent to

Release of Financial Records attached to this Order as Attachment C; and

D. Pro v ide copies of such other financial statements as the Receiver or the

FTC may request in order to monitor Defendants' compliance with the

provisions of this Order.

IV. RETENTION OF ASSETS AND RECORDS

BY FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND THIRD PARTIES

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that any f inancial or brokerage institution or

depository, escrow agent, t itle company, commodity trading company, payment

processing company, trust, entity, or person that: (1) holds, controls, or maintains

custody of any account or Asset owned or controlled by any Defendant(s); (2) holds,

controls, or maintains custody of any Asset associated with credit or debit card charges,

electronic fund transfers, or remotely created checks made by, or on behalf of, any

Defendant(s) or any other entity owned or controlled by any Defendant(s); or (3) has

held, controlled, or maintained any account or Asset of , o r o n b ehalf of , any

16
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Defendant(s) at any time since January 12, 2010, upon service with a copy of this

Order, shall:

A. Hol d and retain within its control and prohibit Defendants or any other

person or entity with control over such Assets from withdrawing, removing,

assigning, transferring, pledging, encumbering, disbursing, dissipating,

converting, selling, gifting, or otherwise disposing of any such Assets,

funds, or other property, except:

1. As d i rected by further order of the Court; or

2. As d i rected in writing by the Receiver (regarding Assets held in the

name or for the benefit of the Receivership Defendants)'.

Deny the Defendants access to any safe deposit box titled in the name of

any Defendant, individually or jointly, or subject to access by any

Defendant, whether directly or indirectly.

C. Pro v ide counsel for the FTC and the Receiver, within five (5) business

days after being served with a copy of this Order, a certified statement

setting forth:

1. The identification number of each such account or Asset titled:

(1) in the name, individually or jointly, of any Defendant(s); (2) held

on behalf of, or for the benefit of, any Defendant(s); (3) owned or

controlled by any Defendant(s); or (4) otherwise subject to access

by any Defendant(s), directly or indirectly;

Receivership Defendants" refers to First Financial Asset Services, LLC, Consumer Credit Group, LLC
and their subsidiaries, affiliates, divisions, successors, and assigns, and includes fictitious names under
which they do business.

17
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2. The b a lance of each such account, or a description of the nature

and value of such Asset, as of the close of business on the day on

which this Order is served, and, if the account or other Asset has

been closed or removed, the date closed or removed, the total

funds removed in order to close the account, and the name of the

person or entity to whom such account or other Asset was remitted;

3. The i dentification of any safe deposit box that is either titled in the

name of any Defendant(s), or is otherwise subject to access by any

Defendant(s); and

If an account, safe deposit box, or other Asset has been closed or

removed, the date closed or removed, the balance of any account

or value of any Asset on such date, and the manner in which such

account or Asset was closed or removed.

D. Pro v ide counsel for the FTC and the Receiver, within five (5) business

days after being served with a request, copies of all documents pertaining

to such account or Asset, including but not limited to originals or copies of

account applications, account statements, signature cards, checks, drafts,

deposit tickets, transfers to and from the accounts, all other debit and

credit instruments or slips, currency transaction reports, 1099 forms, and

safe deposit box logs; provided that such institution or custodian may

charge a reasonable fee.

E. Coo p erate with all reasonable requests of the Receiver relating to this

Order's implementation.
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V. RE PATRIATION OF FOREIGN ASSETS

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to the extent each Defendant has failed to fully

comply with Section V (Repatriation of Foreign Assets) of the TRO, each Defendant

shall immediately:

A. Pro v ide counsel for the FTC and the Receiver with a full accounting of all

funds and Assets outside of the territory of the United States which are

held: (1) by Defendant(s); (2) for the benefit of any Defendant(s); or (3)

under direct or indirect control, individually or jointly, of any Defendant(s),

as required by the forms included in Attachments A and B;

B. Tra nsfer to the territory of the United States all such funds and Assets in

foreign countries; and

C. Hold and retain al l repatriated funds and Assets, and prevent any

disposition, transfer, or dissipation whatsoever of any such Assets or

funds, except as required by this Order.

VI. NON-INTERFERENCE WITH REPATRIATION

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendants, and each of their successors,

assigns, members, officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys, and those

persons in active concert or participation with them who receive actual notice of this

Order by personal service or otherwise, whether acting directly or through any entity,

corporation, subsidiary, division, affiliate or other device, are hereby restrained and

enjoined from taking any action, directly or i ndirectly, that may result in t he

encumbrance or dissipation of foreign Assets, or in the hindrance of the repatriation

required by Section Vl of this Order, including but not limited to:
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A. Sen d ing any s tatement, letter, fax, e -mail, o r w i re t ransmission,

telephoning or engaging in any other act, directly or indirectly, that results

in a determination by a foreign trustee or other entity that a "duress" event

has occurred under the terms of a foreign trust agreement, until such time

that all Assets have been fully repatriated pursuant to Section V of this

Order; and

B. Not i fying any trustee, protector, or other agent of any foreign trust or other

related entities of either the existence of this Order, or of the fact that

repatriation is required pursuant to a Court Order, until such time that all

Assets have been fully repatriated pursuant to Section V of this Order.

VII. R E CEIVER

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Mark J. Bernet, Esq. of Kass Shuler, PA is

appointed Receiver over the Receivership Defendants, and any affiliates or subsidiaries

thereof controlled by Receivership Defendants, with the ful l power of an equity

Receiver. The Receiver shall be the agent of this Court and solely the agent of this

Court in acting as Receiver under this Order. The Receiver shall be accountable

directly to this Court. The Receiver shall comply with all local rules and laws governing

federal equity receivers.

VIII. COOPERATION WITH THE RECEIVER

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendants shall fully cooperate with and assist

the Receiver. Defendants' cooperation and assistance shall include, but not be limited

to, providing any information to the Receiver that the Receiver deems necessary to

exercise the authority and discharge the responsibilities of the Receiver under this

20

From Arti
cle at G

etO
utO

fDebt.o
rg



Case 8:12-cv-00586-MSS-EAJ Document 161 F i led 10/17/12 Page 21 of 33 PagelD 3867

Order; providing any login and password required to access any computer or electronic

files, websites, or information in any medium; and advising all persons who owe money

to the Receivership Defendants that all debts should be paid directly to the Receiver.

Defendants are hereby restrained and enjoined from directly or indirectly:

A. Tra n sacting any of the business of the Receivership Defendants;

B. Exc using debts owed to the Receivership Defendants;

C. Des t roying, secreting, defacing, transferring, or otherwise altering or

disposing of any documents of the Receivership Defendants;

D. Tra nsferring, receiving, altering, selling, encumbering, pledging, assigning,

liquidating, or otherwise disposing of any Assets owned, controlled, or in

the possession or custody of, or in which an interest is held or claimed by,

the Receivership Defendants, or the Receiver;

Failing to notify the Receiver of any Asset, including accounts, of the

Receivership Defendants held in any name other than the name of the

Receivership Defendants, or by any person or entity other than the

Receivership Defendants, or f a i l ing to p rovide any assistance or

information requested by the Receiver in connection with obtaining

possession, custody, or control of such Assets; or

F. Doi ng any act or thing whatsoever to interfere with the Receiver's taking

and keeping custody, control, possession, or managing of the Assets or

documents subject to this receivership; or to harass or interfere with the

Receiver in any way; or to interfere in any manner with the exclusive

jurisdiction of this Court over the Assets or documents of the Receivership
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Defendant; or to refuse to cooperate with the Receiver or the Receiver's

duly authorized agents in the exercise of their duties or authority under

any Order of this Court.

This Section does not prohibit the Repatriation of Foreign Assets, as specifically

required in Section Vl (Repatriation of Foreign Assets) of this Order.

IX. DUTIES AND AUTHORITY OF RECEIVER

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Receiver is directed and authorized to

accomplish the following:

A. Tak e e xc lusive custody, control, and possession of al l Assets and

documents of, or in the possession, custody, or under the control of, the

Receivership Defendants, wherever situated. The Receiver shall have full

power to divert mail and to sue for, collect, receive, take possession of,

hold, and manage al l Assets and documents of the Receivership

Defendants and other persons or entities whose interests are now held by

or under the direction, possession, custody, or control of the Receivership

Defendants.

B. Con s erve, hold, and manage all receivership Assets, and perform all acts

necessary or advisable to preserve the value of those Assets, in order to

prevent any irreparable loss, damage, or injury to consumers, including,

but not limited to, obtaining an accounting of the Assets and preventing

the transfer, withdrawal, or misapplication of Assets.

C. Ent e r into contracts and purchase insurance as advisable or necessary.
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D. Pre vent the inequitable distribution of Assets and determine, adjust, and

protect the interests of consumers and creditors who have transacted

business with the Receivership Defendants.

E. Cho o se, e ngage, and e mploy a t torneys, accountants, appraisers,

investigators, and other independent contractors and technical specialists,

as the Receiver deems advisable or necessary in the performance of

duties and responsibilities.

F. Mak e payments and disbursements from the receivership estate that are

necessary or advisable for carrying out the directions of, or exercising the

authority granted by, this Order. The Receiver shall apply to the Court for

prior approval of any payment of any debt or obligation incurred by the

Receivership Defendant prior to the date of entry of this Order, except

payments that the Receiver deems necessary or advisable to secure

Assets of the Receivership Defendant, such as rental payments.

G. Col l ect any money due or owing to the Receivership Defendants.

H. Institute, compromise, adjust, appear in, intervene in, or become party to

such actions or proceedings in state, federal or foreign courts that the

Receiver deems necessary and advisable to preserve or recover the

Assets of the Receivership Defendants or to carry out the Receiver's

mandate under this Order.

Defend, compromise, adjust, or otherwise dispose of any or all actions or

p roceedings instituted against the Receivership Defendants or t he

Receiver that the Receiver deems necessary and advisable to preserve
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the Assets of the Receivership Defendants or to carry out the Receiver's

mandate under this Order.

J. Take depositions and issue subpoenas to obtain documents and records

pertaining to the receivership and compliance with this Order. Subpoenas

may be served by agents or attorneys of the Receiver and by agents of

any process server retained by the Receiver.

K. Ope n one or more bank accounts as designated depositories for funds of

the Receivership Defendants. The Receiver shall deposit all funds of the

Receivership Defendants in such a designated account and shall make all

payments and disbursements from the receivership estate from such an

account.

L. Mai n tain accurate records of all receipts and expenditures made by the

Receiver.

M. Ho w ever, as previously Ordered by this Court, the Receiver shall not

impede, in any way, the access of Robinson and Balsamo to the facilities

of CCG, FFA, Calif Management, and Ideal Interest, their books and

records, phone lines, and computer networks. Consent of the Receiver is

not required for Defendants to enter or remain in the facilities.

X. T R A NSFER OF FUNDS TO THE RECEIVER BY FINANCIAL

INSTITUTIONS AND OTHER THIRD PARTIES

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, upon service of a copy of this Order, any

financial or brokerage institution or depository, escrow agent, title company, commodity

trading company, payment processing company, or trust shall cooperate with all

reasonable requests of counsel for the FTC and the Receiver relating to implementation
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of this Order, including transferring funds at the Receiver's direction and producing

records related to the Assets and sales of the Receivership Defendants.

XI.
RECEIVER'S REPORTS

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Receiver is excused from filing an initial

report on or before the date set for the hearing to Show Cause regarding the

Preliminary Injunction as to the Receivership Defendants. The Receiver shall report to

this Court within 30 days of entry of this Order, and as ordered by the Court thereafter,

regarding: (1) the steps taken by the Receiver to implement the terms of this Order; (2)

the value of all liquidated and unliquidated Assets of the Receivership Defendants; (3)

the sum of all liabilities of the Receivership Defendants; (4) the steps the Receiver

intends to take in the future to: (a) prevent any diminution in the value of Assets of the

Receivership Defendant; (b) pursue receivership Assets from third parties; and (c)

adjust the liabilities of the Receivership Defendants, if appropriate; and (5) any other

matters which the Receiver believes should be brought to the Court's attention.

Provided, however, if any of the required information would hinder the Receiver's ability

to pursue receivership Assets, the portions of the Receiver's report containing such

information may be filed under seal and not served on the parties.

XII. COMPENSATION OF THE RECEIVER

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Receiver, and all persons or entities

retained or hired by the Receiver as authorized under this Order, shall be entitled to

reasonable compensation for the performance of duties undertaken pursuant to this

Order and for the cost of actual out-of-pocket expenses incurred by them from the

Assets now held by or in the possession or control of, or which may be received by, the

25

From Arti
cle at G

etO
utO

fDebt.o
rg



Case 8:12-cv-00586-MSS-EAJ Document 161 F i led 10/17/12 Page 26 of 33 PagelD 3872

Receivership Defendant. The Receiver shall file with the Court and serve on the parties

a request for the payment of reasonable compensation at the time of the filing of any

report required by Section XII. The Receiver shall not increase the fees or rates used

as the bases for such fee applications without prior approval of the Court.

XIII.
PRESERVATION OF RECORDS

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendants, and each of their successors,

assigns, members, officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys, and those

persons in active concert or participation with them who receive actual notice of this

Order by personal service or otherwise, whether acting directly or through any entity,

corporation, subsidiary, division, affiliate, or other device, are hereby restrained and

enjoined from destroying, erasing, mutilating, concealing, altering, transferring, or

otherwise disposing of, in any manner, directly or indirectly, any documents that relate

to the business practices or finances of any Defendant, including, but not limited to, any

contracts, accounting data, correspondence, advertisements, computer tapes, disks or

other computerized records, customer l ists, books, written or p r inted records,

handwritten notes, recordings, telephone logs, telephone scripts, receipt books, ledgers,

personal and business canceled checks and check registers, bank statements,

appointment books, copies of federal, state, or local business or personal income or

property tax returns.

XIV. PROHIBITION ON USE OF CUSTOMER INFORMATION

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendants, and officers, agents, directors,

servants, employees, salespersons, and attorneys of Defendants, as well as all other

persons or entities in active concert or participation with them, who receive actual notice
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of this Order by personal service or otherwise, whether acting directly or through any

trust, corporation, subsidiary, division, or other device, or any of them, are hereby

restrained and enjoined from using, benefitting from, selling, renting, leasing,

transferring, or otherwise disclosing the name, address, telephone number, email

address, Social Security number, credit card number, debit card number, bank account

number, any financial account number, or any data that enables access to a customer' s

account, or other identifying information of any person which any Defendant obtained

prior to entry of this Order in connection with the marketing or sale of any good or

service, including those who were contacted or are on a list to be contacted by any of

the Defendants; provided that Defendants may disclose such identifying information to a

law enforcement agency or as required by any law, regulation, or court order.

XV. C R EDIT REPORTS

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the FTC may obtain credit reports concerning

any of the Defendants pursuant to Section 604(a)(1) of the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15

U.S.C. g 1681b(a)(1), and that, upon written request, any credit reporting agency from

which such reports are requested shall provide them to the FTC.

XVI. RECORDKEEPING/BUSINESS OPERATIONS

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendants are hereby restrained and enjoined

from:

A. Fai l ing to create and maintain documents that, in reasonable detail,

accurately, fairly, and completely reflect their incomes, disbursements,

transactions, and use of money;
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B. Cre a t ing, operating, or exercising any control over any business entity,

including any p a rtnership, l imited partnership, joint venture, sole

proprietorship, limited l iability company or corporation, without f irst

providing the Commission with a written statement disclosing: (1) the

name of the business entity; (2) the address and telephone number of the

business entity; (3) the names of the business entity's officers, directors,

principals, managers, and employees; and (4) a detailed description of the

business entity's intended activities; and

C. Affiliating with, becoming employed by, or performing any work for any

business that is not a named Defendant in this action without first

providing the Commission with a written statement disclosing: (1) the

name of the business; (2) the address and telephone number of the

business; and (3) a detailed description of the nature of the business or

employment and the nature of the Defendant's duties and responsibilities

in connection with that business or employment.

XVII. BANKRUPTCY PETITIONS

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, in light of the appointment of the Receiver, the

Receivership Defendants is hereby prohibited from filing petitions for relief under the

United States Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C. g 101 et seq., without prior permission from

this Court.
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XVIII. STAY OF ACTIONS

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:

A. Exc ept by leave of this Court, during the pendency of the Receivership

ordered herein, the R eceivership Defendants and a l l c u stomers,

principals, investors, creditors, stockholders, lessors, and other persons

seeking to establish or enforce any claim, right, or interest against or on

behalf of the Receivership Defendants, and all others acting for or on

behalf of such persons, including attorneys, trustees, agents, sheriffs,

constables, marshals, and other officers and their deputies, and their

respective attorneys, servants, agents, and employees be and are hereby

stayed from:

Commencing, prosecuting, continuing, entering, or enforcing any

suit or proceeding, except that such actions may be filed to toll any

applicable statute of limitations;

Accelerating the due date of any obligation or claimed obligation;

filing or enforcing any lien; taking or attempting to take possession,

custody, or control of any Asset; attempting to foreclose, forfeit,

alter, or terminate any interest in any Asset, whether such acts are

part of a judicial proceeding, are acts of self-help, or otherwise;

3. Exe c uting, issuing, serving, or causing the execution, issuance or

service of, any legal process, including, but not l imited to,

attachments, garnishments, subpoenas, writs of replevin, writs of
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execution, or any other form of process, whether specified in this

Order or not; or

4. Doi n g any act or thing whatsoever to interfere with the Receiver's

taking custody, control, possession, or management of the Assets

or Documents subject to this receivership; or to harass or interfere

with the Receiver in any way; or to interfere in any manner with the

exclusive jurisdiction of this Court over the Assets or Documents of

the Receivership Defendant.

B. Thi s Section does not stay:

1. The co m mencement or continuation of a c r iminal action or

proceeding;

2. The commencement or continuation of an action or proceeding by a

governmental unit to enforce such governmental unit's police or

regulatory power;

3. The e n forcement of a judgment, other than a money judgment,

obtained in an action or proceeding by a governmental unit to

enforce such governmental unit's police or regulatory power; or

4. The i s suance to the Receivership Defendant of a notice of tax

deficiency.

XIX. SERVICE OF ORDER

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that copies of this Order may be served by any

means, including facsimile transmission or email, by employees or agents of the FTC or

the Receiver, upon any financial institution or other entity or person that may have
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possession, custody, or control of any documents or Assets of Defendants, or that may

otherwise be subject to any provision of this Order. Service upon any branch or office

of any financial institution shall effect service upon the entire financial institution.

XX. ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF RECEIPT OF ORDER BY DEFENDANTS

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that each Defendant, within five (5) business days of

receipt of this Order, must submit to counsel for the FTC a truthful sworn statement

acknowledging receipt of this Order.

XXI. PROOF OF DISTRIBUTION OF ORDER BY DEFENDANTS

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendants shall immediately provide a copy of

this Order to their agents, servants, employees, consultants, and any aff iliated

businesses, and other persons and entities subject in any part to their direct or indirect

control. Within five (5) business days of receipt of this Order, Defendants must submit

to counsel for the FTC a truthful sworn statement identifying those persons and entities

to whom this Order has been distributed.

XXII. CORRESPONDENCE

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, for the purposes of this Order, all

correspondence and service of pleadings on the FTC shall be addressed to:

Melinda Claybaugh
Julia Solomon Ensor
600 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW
Mailstop M-8102B
Washington, DC 20580
Telephone: (202) 326-2203, -2377

Fax: (202) 326-2558
Email: mclaybaugh@ftc.gov, jensor@ftc.gov
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XXII. EXPEDITED DISCOVERY

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the FTC is granted leave to conduct certain

expedited asset discovery, and that, commencing with the time and date of this Order,

in lieu of the time periods, notice provisions, and other requirements of Rules 26, 30, 31,

33, and 34 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, expedited discovery as to parties

and non-parties shall proceed as follows:

A. The FTC may, upon five (5) calendar days' notice, take the deposition,

including by telephone, of any person or entity, whether or not a party, in

any judicial district, for the purpose of discovering the nature, location,

status, and extent of the Assets of Defendants, and Defendants' affiliates

and subsidiaries. Provided that, notwithstanding Fed. R. Civ. P. 30(a)(2),

this Section shall not preclude any future depositions by the FTC.

Provided further, that any deposition taken pursuant to this Section shall

be in addition to, and not subject to, the presumptive limits on depositions

set forth in Fed. R. Civ. P. 30(a)(2)(A).

The FTC may, including through the use of a Rule 45 subpoena, demand

the production of documents from any person or entity, whether or not a

Defendant, relating to the nature, location, status, and extent of the Assets

of Defendants, and Defendants' affiliates and subsidiaries. The subpoena

recipient shall respond within fourteen (14) calendar days after the FTC

serves the subpoena, provided that ten (10) calendar days' notice shall

be deemed sufficient time to produce any documents that are maintained

or stored only as electronic data.
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For purposes of discovery pursuant to this Section, service shall be sufficient if

made by facsimile, electronic mail, or by overnight courier.

XXIV.
RETENTION OF JURISDICTION

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Court shall continue to retain jurisdiction of

this matter for all purposes.

DONE AND ORDERED in Tampa, Florida, this 17th day of October 2012

( 7

M C EN

UNI STAT E S DISTRICT JUDGE

Copies Furnished to:
All Counsel of Record
Any Unrepresented Parties
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